1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2
3
4 **No. 52788**

5
6
7 **DAIMON MONROE**

8 Appellant,

Electronically Filed
Jun 16 2009 09:24 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman

9
10 vs.

11
12 **STATE OF NEVADA**

13 Respondent.

14
15
16 Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction
17 Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
18 The Honorable David Wall, District Judge

19
20
21 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

22
23
24 Martin Hart, Esq.
25 State Bar No. 005984
26 LAW OFFICES OF MARTIN HART, LLC.
27 229 Las Vegas Boulevard, #200
28 Las Vegas, NV 89101
 (702) 380-4278
 Attorney for Daimon Monroe

1 **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

2 **CASE LAW**

3 Bain v. Sheriff, Clark County, 88 Nev. 699, 504 P.2d 695 (1972)

4 Bryant v. State, 114 Nev. 626, 959 P.2d 964 (1998)

5 Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)

6 Garrettson v. State, 114 Nev. 1064, 967 P.2d 428 (1998)

7 Groh v. Ramirez, 540 U.S. 551 (2004)

8 Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983)

9 Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)

10 Keesee v. State, 110 Nev. 997, 879 P.2d 63 (1994)

11 Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961)

12 Marron v. United States, 275 U.S. 192 (1927)

13 McGinnis v. United States, 227 F.2d 598 (1955)

14 McNair v. State, 108 Nev. 53, 56, 825 P.2d 571 (1992)

15 Nueslein v. District of Columbia, 115 F.2d 690 (1940)

16 Romero v. State, 116 Nev. 344, 996 P.2d 894 (2000)

17 Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961)

18 Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476 (1965)

19 States v. McGrew, 122 F.3d 847 (9th Cir.1997)

20 Talk of the Town Bookstore, Inc., 644 F.2d 1317 (9th Cir. 1981)

21 United States v. Bright, 630 F.2d 804 (1980)

22 United States v. Cardwell, 680 F.2d 75 (9th Cir. 1982)

23 United States v. Crozier, 777 F.2d 1376 (9th Cir. 1985)

24 United States v. Collins, 61 F.3d 1379 (9th Cir. 1995)

25 United States v. Cook, 657 F.2d 730 (9th Cir. 1981)

26 United States v. Gardner, 537 F.2d 861 (6th Cir. 1976)

27 United States v. Harris, 403 U.S. 573 (1971)

28 United States v. Hillyard, 667 F.2d 1336, 1340 (9th Cir.1982)

1 United States v. Klein, 565 F.2d 183, 185 (1st Cir. 1977)
2 United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984)
3 United States v. Marti, 421 F.2d 1263 (2nd Cir. 1970)
4 United States v. Spilotro, 800 F.2d 959 (9th Cir. 1986)
5 United States v. Sears, 411 F.3d 1124 (9th Cir. 2005)
6 United States v. Washington, 782 F.2d 807 (9th Cir. 1986)

7
8 **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES**

9 NRS 193.130

10 NRS 205.080

11 NRS 205.275

12 United States Constitutional Amendment IV

13 United States Constitutional Amendment VI

14 United States Constitutional Amendment XIV

15 Nevada Constitution Article 1, Section 18

16
17 **I.**

18 **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL**

- 19 **A. WHETHER THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED IN THE INSTANT SEARCHES IS**
20 **“FRUIT OF THE POISONOUS TREE” AND MUST BE SUPPRESSED.**
- 21 **B. WHETHER THE SEARCH WARRANTS WERE ISSUED WITHOUT PROBABLE**
22 **CAUSE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OF THE**
CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES
- 23 **C. WHETHER THE SEARCH WARRANTS AUTHORIZED UNLAWFUL, GENERAL**
24 **SEARCHES, IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OF THE**
CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.
- 25 **D. WHETHER WITHOUT THE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OBTAINED EVIDENCE**
26 **THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN DAMIAN MONROE’S**
CONVICTIONS.
- 27 **E. THERE IS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN FELONY CONVICTIONS**
28 **FOR THE POSSESSION OF STOLEN PROPERTY COUNTS AS THERE WAS NO**
PROPER TESTIMONY AS TO VALUE OF ITEMS.

1 **F. THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO AMEND COUNT ONE ON**
2 **THE EVE OF TRIAL AND THIS ERROR RESULTED IN THE ADMISSION OF**
3 **IMPROPER BAD ACTS EVIDENCE**

4 **G. THE DISTRICT COURT VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S EIGHTH**
5 **AMENDMENT RIGHTS WHEN SENTENCING HIM AS A LARGE HABITUAL**
6 **FELON AND GIVING HIM CONSECUTIVE LIFE SENTENCES.**

7 **II.**

8 **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND BAIL STATUS**

9 This is an appeal from a jury verdict in a criminal case. A Judgment of Conviction was filed
10 in the District Court on November 4, 2008 (*See* Appellant's Appendix (AA) bates-stamped
11 documents 0249). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute ("NRS") 177.015.
12 Defendant/Appellant Damian Monroe's ("Monroe") Notice of Appeal was filed on August 11, 2008.
13 Monroe is currently in the custody of the Nevada Department of Corrections, serving a sentence of
14 life without the possibility of parole.

15 **III.**

16 **STATEMENT OF FACTS & PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

17 **A. SUMMARY OF FACTS**

18 The charges in the instant matter arise from the items recovered as a result of searches
19 executed on five Las Vegas properties located at 1504 Cutler, 7400 Pirates Cove #220, 5900 Smoke
20 Ranch #174, 8100 W. Charleston #A138 and 8265 West Sahara, #B106.

21 However, the genesis of the instant case was a traffic stop on September 24, 2006, wherein
22 Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (Metro) officers stopped a van driven by Daimon
23 Monroe. Following a warrantless search of Monroe's van, Monroe and his passenger, Bryan
24 Ferguson ("Ferguson") were arrested for Possession of Stolen Property, Burglary, and Conspiracy
25 to Commit Burglary. The matter was prosecuted under case Clark County District Court Case No.
26 C228581 and is currently under appeal in Supreme Court Case No. 52234.

27 Following their arrests in C228581, Ferguson remained in the Clark County Detention
28

1 Center, while Monroe was released. During the time that Ferguson was in custody, Las Vegas
2 Metropolitan Police ("Metro") Detective Bradley Nickell ("Nickell") began to review recorded
3 phone conversations made from Clark County Detention Center the to a residential phone number
4 registered to Tonya Trevarthen ("Trevarthen") (AA 1455: 136: 3-22 and AA 1463: 144: 8-9).¹

6 According to the Affidavits and Application for Search Warrants (Affidavit), some of the
7 recorded conversation were regarding moving items to and from a storage unit. Detectives contacted
8 numerous storage units in Las Vegas and located a storage unit rented in Trevarthan's name.
9 Detectives also surveilled Monroe and watched as he and Trevarthan unloaded items from a storage
10 unit and took them to a home located at 1504 Cutler Drive.

12 On November 3, 2006, based upon information gathered from the recorded jail conversations,
13 Nickell applied for and received search warrants for 1504 Cutler, 7400 Pirates Cove #220, 5900
14 Smoke Ranch #174 and 8100 W. Charleston #A138. The Affidavits for all the warrants were
15 identical, recounting the initial incident (Case No. C228581) which led to Monroe's incarceration
16 and attaching the incident report as an exhibit. Further, the Affidavits gave a narration of several of
17 the recorded telephone conversations.
18

20 The Court issued the search warrants. The warrants were identical and described the items
21 to be seized as follows:

- 22 A) Burglary Tools (implements adapted, designed or
23 commonly used for the commission of burglary such as pry
24 tools, nippers, grinders, lock picks, altered keys, etc.)
- 25 B) Items of property that are used to make burglary tools
26 (grinders, torches, files, bending tools, etc.)

27
28 ¹ Bradley got the phone number off the vehicle impound sheet from Monroe's arrest in the
previous matter on September 24, 2006 (AA 1148: 125: 7-9).

1
2 C) Items of property including tools, electronic equipment,
3 household items, retail merchandise and other individual
4 pieces of property which contain specific identifiable
5 descriptions and/or the serial numbers which would enable
6 officers to compare and confirm through comparison with
7 stolen property and police crime reports that said property
8 is, in fact stolen and if said property is confirmed stolen for
9 officers to seized the same.

10 (AA 0008; AA 0043; AA 0142; AA 0174; AA 0219).

11 Upon Ex Parte Motion, Detective Nickell sought, and was granted, an Order Sealing
12 Affidavit. The Order issued simultaneously with the warrants. Consequently, a copy of the Order
13 Sealing Affidavit was left at the premises with the search warrant, in lieu of the Affidavit in support
14 of the warrant.

15 According to the Warrant Return for the 7400 Pirate's Cove location, the officers seized two
16 tools, a "figurine" and a golf club (AA 0247).

17 According to the Warrant Return for the 5900 Smoke Ranch location, officers seized 212
18 items. The items seized included numerous items of memorabilia and artwork, hair products,
19 lotions, a box of vitamins and a box of shoes (AA 0120 - AA 0125).

20 According to the Warrant Return for the 8100 W. Charleston location, officers seized 204
21 items. The items seized included artwork, memorabilia, furniture, boxes of clothes and cigarettes.
22 No tools were confiscated and only a couple of electronics with serial numbers were taken. (AA
23 0201 - AA 0206).

24 According to the Warrant Return for the 1504 Cutler location, officers seized 388 items. The
25 items seized included televisions, stereos, computers and other electronic items along with numerous
26 tools. Of the tools seized, only a couple of grinders fit the description listed on the face of the
27
28

1 warrant. Most of the tools seized were woodworking type power tools such as saws; two pruners
2 and a hedge trimmer were also confiscated. The property return sheet also included artwork, sports
3 memorabilia, a knife set, cigars, a humidior, exercise equipment, musical instruments, a coffee maker
4 and the proverbial sink (no notation as to whether kitchen or bathroom) (AA 0070 - AA 0091). As
5 result of the search of the 1504 Cutler residence, Detectives became aware that Monroe had rented
6 storage unit B-106 at 8265 West Sahara.
7

8
9 On November 7, 2006, Detective Tim Schoening ("Schoening") applied for a search warrant
10 for 8265 West Sahara, unit B-106. The previous warrants were attached to the Affidavit for 8265
11 West Sahara, unit B-106 as Exhibit "A" (AA 0141 - AA 0167).

12 The Court issued the search warrant. The warrant listed the items to be seized as follows:

13
14 Burglary Tools, Stolen property such as paintings, sports
15 memorabilia, art work, appliances, furniture

16 (AA 0137)

17 Upon Ex Parte Motion, Schoening sought, and was granted, an Order Sealing Affidavit. The
18 Order was issued simultaneously with the warrant. Consequently, as with the previously executed
19 warrants, a copy of the Order Sealing Affidavit was left at the premises with the search warrant, in
20 lieu of the Affidavit in support of the warrant.
21

22 According to the Warrant Return for the 8265 West Sahara location, officers seized 96 items.
23 The items seized included numerous items of artwork and memorabilia but also included, a disco
24 ball and Halloween masks (AA 0169 -AA 0172).
25

26 Monroe was subsequently charged, by way of Indictment, with twenty-seven counts of
27 Possession of Stolen Property.

28 At trial in the matter, the State witnesses testified as to the values of items recovered from

1 the properties:

2 Regarding Count Three:

3 Michael Lantsbereger of Touch of Las Vegas testified as to
4 what he *thought* the *purchase price* of the items has been (See
5 AA 0593: 207: 3- 6: 208: AA 0594).

6 Regarding Count Six:

7 Kay Friedrich of See's Candies, testified as to the retail price of
8 candy. (See AA 0612: 226: 18- 1: 229: AA 0615).

9 Regarding Count Ten:

10 Marcus Giannella of Milton Homer Refine Home Furnishings
11 testified to the retail price of the furnishing. However, he was
12 not sure of the retail prices on some of the items, giving price
13 ranges that varied by hundreds and thousands of dollars and
14 using language like "probably" and "I would guess" (See AA
0513: 127 -130: AA 0516).

15 Regarding Count Eleven:

16 Scott Michels of Cal Spas testified that the value of the hot tub,
17 was \$2,310 (See AA 0586: 200: 2).

18 Additionally, witnesses for See America (AA 0548: 162: 16-17), and Family Guitar Center
19 (AA 0569: 183: 7-19) and Land Baron testified as to purchase price (AA 0438: 52-53: AA 0439).
20

21 **B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

22 **1. Hearing on Motions to Suppress**

23 On May 7, 2008, Monroe filed a joinder to co-Defendant Bryan Ferguson's ("Ferguson")
24 Motion to Suppress evidence derived from the warrantless search of Monroe's van on September
25 24, 2006, as "fruit of the poisonous tree" (AA 0299). Monroe also filed a Motion to Suppress the
26 evidence acquired as a result of the search warrants (AA 0302). The basis for Monroe's Motion was
27
28

1 that the search warrants were over-broad and void of particularity.

2 Trial commenced on May 12, 2009. Prior to beginning the trial, a hearing was conducted on
3 the foregoing matters. Regarding Ferguson's Motion to Suppress, Judge Bell denied the Motion,
4 concluding that the stop began as a proper Terry stop and developed into probable cause
5 (AA 0304: 21: 11-2: AA 0305).

6
7 As to Monroe's Motion to Suppress Evidence obtained as a result of the search warrants,
8 Judge Bell found that the warrants were valid, without making any statements regarding Monroe's
9 assertions of vagueness and void of particularity. (AA 0327: 43-44: AA 0328).

10
11 **2. Appeal (Clark County District Court Case No. C228581 - Previous Case).**

12 On February 23, 2009, Monroe filed an appeal in C228521. The basis for appeal was that
13 the district court had erred in failing to suppress the evidence obtained from the warrantless search
14 of Monroe's van, as neither the search, nor Monroe's detention fell within any recognized exception
15 to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution or Article 1, Section 18 of the Nevada
16 Constitution.
17

18
19 **V.**

20 **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

21 **A. THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED IN THE INSTANT SEARCHES IS "FRUIT OF**
22 **THE POISONOUS TREE" AND MUST BE SUPPRESSED.**

23 As noted above, on February 23, 2009, Monroe filed an appeal in C228521. The basis for
24 appeal was that the district court had erred in failing to suppress the evidence obtained from the
25 warrantless search of Monroe's van, as neither the search, nor Monroe's detention, fell within any
26 recognized exception to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution or Article 1,
27 Section 18 of the Nevada Constitution.
28

1 The “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine, also known as the “exclusionary rule” is a
2 judicially created remedy to deter government violations of the Constitution. United States v. Leon,
3 468 U.S. 897, 906 (1984). The exclusionary rule requires that evidence obtained directly or indirectly
4 through government violations of the Fourth Amendments may not be introduced by the prosecution
5 at trial, at least for the purpose of providing direct proof of the defendant's guilt. *See* Mapp v. Ohio,
6 367 U.S. 643, 654 (1961). When a court improperly admits evidence in violation of the exclusionary
7 rule, reversal is required unless the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See* Chapman v.
8 California, 386 U.S. 18, 23-24 (1967).

11 In addition to barring physical, tangible materials obtained either during or as a direct result
12 of an unlawful invasion, the exclusionary rule also bars overheard, verbal statements (*See* Silverman
13 v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961)) as well as testimony as to matters observed during an
14 unlawful invasion. *See* McGinnis v. United States, 227 F.2d 598 (1955). Thus, the verbal evidence
15 which derives from the unauthorized arrest and unlawful detention in this matter is just as much the
16 “fruit” of official illegality as the more common tangible fruits of an unwarranted intrusion. *See*
17 Nueslein v. District of Columbia, 115 F.2d 690 (1940).

20 Although the Supreme Court recognizes exceptions to the exclusionary rule (i.e., the “good
21 faith” exception, the independent source exception, inevitable discovery exception and attenuation),
22 none of these exceptions applied in C228521. As such, all evidence obtained through the illegal,
23 warrantless search and detention of Monroe should have been suppress at trial. Furthermore, as the
24 search warrants in the instant matter were issued based upon evidence obtained through the illegal
25 search and detention, it is “fruit of the poisonous tree” and must be excluded as well.

27 Therefore, if Monroe’s conviction in C228521 is reversed, and the evidence suppressed, the
28

proper application of the "fruit of the poisonous tree" doctrine requires the same outcome in the instant matter. In advance of this argument and in the interest of economy, Appellant seeks to adopt and join in all arguments involving Appeals #52234 and #52916, the Appellant's direct appeals of the cases arising out of the initial car stop and the appeals of co-defendant Brian Ferguson including Appeal #52877. While the trials for the charges in the instant case were heard separately from those cases, the issues and the pretrial motions were similar and the various counsel joined into each other's motions as were applicable. If this is not sufficient, Appellant seeks to supplement and/or expand his appeals.

B. THE SEARCH WARRANTS WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY PROBABLE CAUSE IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES

The Fourth Amendment states, in pertinent part, "No warrant shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation . . ." U.S. Const. amend. IV. The Fourth Amendment is made applicable to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Mapp v. Ohio, *supra*. Probable cause requires "trustworthy facts and circumstances which would cause a person of reasonable caution to believe that it is more likely than not that the specific items to be searched for" are subject to seizure and at the place to be searched. Keese v. State, 110 Nev. 997, 1002, 879 P.2d 63, 66 (1994); *see also* Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238-39 (1983); United States v. Collins, 61 F.3d 1379, 1384 (9th Cir. 1995). The Nevada Supreme Court will reverse a finding of probable cause if the evidence in its entirety provides no substantial basis for the magistrate's finding. Garrettson v. State, 114 Nev. 1064, 1068-69, 967 P.2d 428, 431 (1998).

The first four warrants in question were prepared by and based upon affidavits by Metro Detective Nickell. Nickell asserts that there is probable cause based upon: 1) Monroe's prior arrest

1 2) excerpts of Monroe's jail house calls, and 3) investigation which discovered properties rented by
2 the defendants.

3
4 **1) The jail house phone calls did not give rise to probable cause.**

5 In the majority of the calls, Monroe and Ferguson discuss their disbelief at the turn of
6 events. In some calls, the men refer to "Matthew"; Nickell believes that "Matthew" is a nickname
7 for a burglary tool (AA 1456: 137: 5-6). However, at no time in the conversations does Monroe
8 admit that he has stolen property in his possession, or even reference stolen property. Therefore, the
9 recorded conversations did not give rise to, or contribute to, a finding of probable cause.

10
11 **2) Metro's "investigation" did not give rise to probable cause.**

12 The "investigation" conducted by Metro only confirmed that Monroe had rented properties.
13 That fact offers no support for the assertion that Monroe had stolen property. The investigation did
14 not uncover any evidence to indicate that there was stolen property at any of the locations.
15 Therefore, the Metro "investigation" did not give rise to, or contribute to, a finding of probable
16 cause.

17
18
19 **3) The prior arrest, by itself, is an insufficient basis for a determination of
20 probable cause.**

21 Based upon the complete lack of probable cause emanating from the calls and the
22 investigation, the grounds for "probable cause" appears to be the prior arrest. However, by itself,
23 a prior arrest is an insufficient basis for a warrant. *See United States v. Harris*, 403 U.S. 573, 579-580
24 (1971) (affiant's own knowledge of respondent's background, coupled with informant information,
25 afforded a basis upon which a magistrate could find probable cause). In this instance, the police
26 offered no additional information on which to justify the issuance of a warrant. Because the warrant
27 was issued based solely upon Monroe's prior arrest, there was no probable cause, and the warrant
28

1 was invalid.

2 **C. THE SEARCH WARRANTS AUTHORIZED UNLAWFUL, GENERAL**
3 **SEARCHES, IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OF THE**
4 **CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES**

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