1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2			
3			
4			
5	DAIMON MONROE,) Case No. 52788	
6	Appellant,	}	
7	v.	Electronically Filed Nov 05 2009 05:00 p.m.	
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	Tracie K. Lindeman	
9	Respondent.	_ }	
10			
11	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF		
12	Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County		
13	Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County		
14	MARTIN HART, ESQ. Law Offices of Martin Hart, LLC.	DAVID ROGER Clark County District Attorney	
15	Nevada Bar #005984 229 Las Vegas Blyd. South, Ste. 200	Nevada Bar #002781 Regional Justice Center	
16	Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 380-4278	200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212

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

The State submits that the Leon good faith exception would apply here. As previously discussed, Defendant is not asserting that the issuing magistrate was not impartial or that Nickell made material misrepresentations in order to obtain the warrant. Moreover, as argued, supra, all of the warrants were sufficiently particularized and were supported by probable cause. Defendant therefore cannot show that the good faith exception would be inapplicable in this case.

IV

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Defendant generally contends there was insufficient evidence to support his convictions on all counts. Notably, although Defendant labels his argument a 'sufficiency of the evidence' argument, he does not specifically address the evidence elicited during his trial to show that a reasonable jury could not have been convinced of his guilt on all counts

beyond a reasonable doubt.³¹ Lay v. State, 110 Nev. 1189, 1192, 886 P.2d 448, 450 (1994); Hutchins v. State, 110 Nev. 103, 107-08, 867 P.2d 1136, 1139 (1994). Rather, his assertion is based solely on his position that the evidence used to convict him should have been suppressed, and that he would not have been convicted of any of the crimes for which he was charged without it. As such, the State will not address this Argument separately. To the extent Defendant complains his motions to suppress should have been granted, the State respectfully directs this Court's attention to its arguments as detailed in Arguments I through III, supra. To the extent Defendant complains the State failed to meet its burden of proving the element of value with regard counts 2 through 27, the State respectfully directs this Court's attention to its Argument V, infra.

SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED TO SUPPORT THE ELEMENT OF VALUE FOR ALL COUNTS CHARGING POSSESSION OF STOLEN PROPERTY

Defendant is arguing there was insufficient evidence presented to support the element of value for all counts charging possession of stolen property. In support of his argument he accuses the State of improperly substituting the retail or purchase price of the items at issue for fair market value and that it did so without justifying its use of an alternative method of valuation in contradiction of this Court's holding in <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 626, 959 P.2d 964 (1998). The State submits, however, that with the exception of counts 11 and 12 (to be discussed, <u>infra</u>), it properly set forth sufficient evidence to support the jury's conclusion that the stolen items in this case had a value in excess of either \$250 or \$2,500, as required by NRS 205.275(2)(b) and (2)(c) in support of the C or B felony counts.³²

Defendant is not asserting the State failed to prove he committed the crime of Conspiracy to Possess Stolen Property And/Or to Commit Burglary (count 1) beyond a reasonable doubt. As such, the State will not address this issue. The State would further note that Defendant's (Appellant's) Opening Brief is replete with arguments that are not supported by any citations to any portion of the record.

This Court has long held it will not overturn a district court's decision to admit or exclude

evidence unless the district court abused its discretion. Petty v. State, 116 Nev. 321, 997 P.2d 800 (2000). Nevada has long held that an owner of property may testify as to its value without being qualified as an expert witness. The general rule is that an owner, because of his ownership, is presumed to have special knowledge of the property and may testify as to its value. City of Elko v. Zillich, 100 Nev. 366, 683 P.2d 5 (1984). Therefore, to the extent Defendant complains the district court improperly denied Fergason's Motion in Limine to

11 12

10

14

13

16

15

17 18

19 20

21

22

23

24 25

26

27 28

The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence upon appeal is whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Edwards v. State, 90 Nev. 255, 258-259, 524 P.2d 328, 331 (1974). In reviewing a claim of insufficient evidence, the relevant inquiry is "whether, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Origel-Candid v. State, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998), (quoting Koza v. State, 100 Nev. 245, 250, 681 P.2d 44, 47 (1984)); See also <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979).

First, as to Counts 11 and 12 the State concedes the evidence did not support the jury's finding that the items at issue in those counts had a fair market value in excess of \$2,500, as required by NRS 205.275(2)(c). Regarding Count 11, during closing arguments the State specifically conceded this point to the jury, arguing instead there was sufficient evidence to show the hot tub's value was in excess of \$250 rather than \$2,500. RA 1992-93. Neither party either at the time the verdict was read or at the time of sentencing, however, noted this error. Regarding Count 12, Mr. Moss testified that the icemaker, the sole item listed in the Second Amended Indictment, was valued at about \$1500 which is below the requisite \$2500 minimum for the felony, but sufficient for a conviction for the \$250 or more C felony pursuant to NRS 205.275(2)(b). As such, the State requests a remand to the district court for resentencing as to both counts as gross-misdemeanors and for the filing of an Amended Judgment of Conviction. Notwithstanding, there was sufficient evidence to support Defendant's convictions on the remaining counts.

NRS 205.275(6) specifically reads that "the value of the property involved shall be deemed to be the highest value attributable to the property by any reasonable standard. Bryant, the defendant was charged with possession of stolen property with a value of \$250 or more. At trial the State presented evidence of the replacement cost of the tools which was

Bar Admission of Expert Testimony, or Evidence of Value for the Property at Issue, the State submits Defendant has not shown an abuse of discretion.

1 \$339.62. This Court reversed the defendant's conviction because the State failed to show the 2 3 4 5 6 8

11

10

12 13

14 15

16 17

18

19

20

21

22 23

24

25

26

27 28 fair market value of the tools at the time and place they were stolen and provided no explanation to justify using the replacement cost method of valuation. Here, unlike in Bryant, the record is replete with testimony from the victims as to the retail and/or wholesale cost of items in question at the time of the theft. Further, contrary to Defendant's assertion, the jury could properly consider the wholesale and retail values of the stolen items when determining whether the State met the thresholds established by NRS 205.275(2)(b) and (2)(c).

In Counts 5, 6, 18, 19, 20, 21, 25 and 27 the State presented sufficient evidence for the jurors to conclude that the stolen property at issue in these counts was valued at \$250 or This is illustrated by the testimony on these counts related in the more. RA 647-658 Statement of Facts.

Counts 2, 7, 9, 10, 13, 17, 22, and 23 involved items with an aggregate value of \$2500 or more per victim.³³ Similarly, a review of the testimony relating to those counts in the statement of facts demonstrates sufficient evidence of value was presented.

Finally, Counts 3, 4, 6, 8, 14, 15, 16, 18, 24, and 26 involved artistic works of art and memorabilia which are by their very nature unique and which also had an aggregate value \$2500 or more as indicated in the Statement of Facts.

Aside from the victims' testimony, the State admitted over 1000 photographs depicting the stolen merchandise at issue, items which were identified by the owners and available to the jurors for their perusal to help them determine reasonable value. the jurors were specifically instructed on how to reasonably determine value: "The value of the property involved shall be deemed to be the highest value attributable to the property by any reasonable standard. Value may be shown by evidence as to purchase price, price tag, or by replacement cost. ³⁴ RA 675. See NRS 205.275(6).

Each count represents one victim and the aggregate of the items stolen from that victim. Defendant is not arguing that the jury instructions failed to comport with the relevant statutes or that they were improper in any respect. Indeed, the record shows Defendant's counsel implicitly agreed to Instruction No. 11 which defines value. RA 1868-69. As such,

Additionally, this Court has held that jurors are entitled to rely on their common sense and experience (Instruction No. 26 (RA 690)) in addition to the facts and evidence elicited in the course of the trial proceedings when being asked to reasonably determine fair market value. Meyer v. State, 119 Nev. 554, 80 P.3d 447 (2003).

The State would also note that Counts 3, 4, 6, 8, 14, 15, 16, 18, 24, and 26 all involved unique items such as artwork and various pieces of memorabilia. In <u>Romero v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 344, 996 P.2d 894 (2000), this Court stated that in instances involving artwork or unique property, value may be "best determined by the initial price of the piece or the replacement cost. 116 Nev. at 347, fn3.

Finally, during argument on Fergason's motion to prevent the victims from testifying about the value of their property (as adopted by Defendant), Fergason's counsel conceded it was in fact permissible for them to do so:

Court: Well, you - - you don't dispute, do you, Ms. Dustin, that it is the law that an owner can testify as to value of their property as they understand it, and then the jury has to decide whether they believe that testimony or not. That's the law, isn't it?

Ms. Dustin: It's - - yes, Your Honor. That is the law.

RA 792; see RA 595-97, 605-08. The district court then went on to state that it was for the jury "to decide whether they believe the owner. RA 793. The record is clear the State properly set forth sufficient evidence to support the jury's conclusion that the stolen items in this case had a value in excess of either \$250 or \$2,500, as required by NRS 205.275(2)(b) and (2)(c), respectively, and that given the aggregate of the evidence presented it was in fact reasonable for the jurors to find that the State proved that the value of the respective items as represented by counts 2 through 10 and 12 through 27 were either \$250 or more, or \$2500 or more, depending on the count.

it is the State's position Defendant's failure to raise the issue of the sufficiency of any of the jury instructions constitutes a waiver of the issue.

THE COURT PROPERLY PERMITTED THE STATE TO AMEND COUNT ONE

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Defendant complains the district court erred when it granted the State's Motion to Amend Indictment as to Count 1 (which charged conspiracy) on May 1, 2008.³⁵ The amendment simply specified what burglaries formed the basis of the conspiracy charge, that is the Anku and Dentistry burglaries. For the following reasons Defendant's arguments are without merit.

First, the district court's decision to grant the State's motion to amend was not, as Defendant asserts, on the eve of trial. In fact, the State's motion was granted on May 1, 2008, 12 days before Defendant's trial commenced on May 13, 2008. Notwithstanding, NRS 173.095 provides an indictment may be amended at any time before verdict within specific guidelines. A comparison of Count 1 in the Indictment with that in the Amended Indictment will show that no additional or different offenses were added as a result of the amendment. See RA 250 and 552.

Further, Fergason filed a Motion to Strike Language in Count One and Count Thirteen of the Amended Indictment wherein he complained that the additional language mentioning Anku and the Dentistry as added by the State to Count 1 constituted a substantive change.³⁶ After much discussion the district court denied the motion by concluding as follows:

> I think that there is ample evidence in the preliminary hearing [sic] in the Court below that - - and ties these guys into these two things that occurred that night, and that that's just sort of a rhetorical change without substance or prejudice.

AA 784. As argument continued, the district court reasoned that the events surrounding Anku and the Dentistry on September 24th were relevant for the specific purpose of showing that Defendant and Fergason conspired to burglarize Anku and/or possess stolen property,

For clarification, Defendant is not arguing that the Second Amended Indictment filed solely against Defendant on May 13, 2008, was improper.

As this Court will recall, Defendant joined in all of Fergason's motions. RA 595-97. Notably, Defendant's instant argument as discussed in his Opening Brief was taken in

principal part from Cynthia Dustin's argument in Fergason's Motion to Strike which was considered and then denied by Judge Bell on May 12, 2008. RA 598-604, RA 783-89.

which is the basis for Count 1. AA 786. Based on the foregoing, Defendant also has not shown the district court abused its discretion or that Defendant's substantial rights were compromised as a result of the amendment.

Contrary to Defendant's assertion, the addition of the September 24, 2006, burglary of Anku and Dentistry to Count 1 did not permit the admission of improper bad acts evidence. The events of the Anku and Dentistry burglary were substantive evidence of the conspiracy, not character evidence. It would have been admissible regardless of the amendment. It was also substantive evidence to demonstrate that Defendant knew the massive amount of property he had in his home and storage units was stolen. In addition, as the district court concluded, the events of September 24th were relevant to establish Defendant's involvement in the conspiracy, his knowledge of the conspiracy and his intent to engage in the conspiracy.

To the extent Defendant's argument implies the amendment unconstitutionally deprived him of adequate notice, the State submits the Indictment, and later the Amended Indictment, in fact provided him with adequate notice of the State's theory of prosecution, a theory the State has pursued since it commenced its investigation in September of 2006 and from which it has never deviated. Sheriff, Clark County v. Levinson, 95 Nev. 436, 437, 596 P.2d 232, 233 (1979); see also State v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 997 P.2d 126 (Nev. 2000).

Defendant also argues that the filing of the Amended Indictment violated the statute of limitations. Given the volume of stolen property, it was reasonable for the jury to conclude the conspiracy to possess said property was ongoing up until Defendant and Fergason's arrest on September 24, 2006, which is less than two years from the Amended Indictment's filing date of May 1, 2008. Notwithstanding, in all of the Indictments filed in this case the conspiracy was alleged to have occurred on or between September 20, 2006, and November 28, 2006. Defendant was not charged with any of the underlying burglaries but with possessing the stolen items within that time frame. Accordingly, the filing of the

Amended Indictment fell well within the statute of limitations, and the district court did not abuse its discretion when it granted the State's motion to amend.

Finally, given the volume of the evidence presented by the State as supported by the testimony of the victims, the police officers and the investigating detectives, as well as the hundreds of photographs depicting the merchandise recovered at the various locations, any perceived error was harmless. An error is harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155-56, 14 P.3d 25 (2000) (quoting Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999). Based on the foregoing, Defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

VII DEFENDANT WAS PROPERLY SENTENCED AS A LARGE HABITUAL CRIMINAL

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